FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/28/2023 11:24 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

## SUPREME COURT NO. 102588-2 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 83386-3-1

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

#### BROGAN BARTCH,

Respondent.

#### APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

DONNA L. WISE Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Petitioner

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

####

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. PROCEDURAL FACTS.

The defendant, Brogan Bartch, was convicted by jury of indecent liberties (victim incapable of consent by reason of being mentally incapacitated or physically helpless) committed against S.P. on June 27, 2018. CP 1, 434; RCW 9A.44.100(1)(b).

#### 2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS.

In 2017 and 2018, S.P. and Brogan Bartch were both in a group of friends who occasionally gathered to drink alcohol. RP 619-23, 1068-70. On June 26, 2018, S.P. learned Bartch was having a social gathering at his house and went there with Ashlyn Johnson and James McCool about 11 p.m. RP 725, 732, 1212-13, 1218. They brought two bottles of alcohol and

drank beer and vodka with Bartch after they arrived. RP 665-69, 749-50, 1222-26. The group played a drinking game, beer pong; McCool left after the first game, at about 12:30 a.m. RP 664-65, 676-77, 682, 1224.

Johnson<sup>1</sup> described S.P. as "very highly intoxicated" at this point, swaying, with slurred speech. RP 753. Johnson sat on the couch, Bartch's younger brother came in and joined her, then Bartch and S.P. sat on the couch too. RP 754. Johnson took two pictures of her and S.P. that night, and a short video of Bartch and S.P. on the couch, which showed S.P. slurring her words and with her eyes shut. Ex. 11, 12; RP 759-66.

Johnson saw S.P. slipping in and out of reality, so Bartch and Johnson helped her get to Bartch's bedroom, where she laid on the bed, nodded that she was okay, and appeared to pass out. RP 767-68, 772-73. They turned off the light and shut the door. RP 774.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This brief generally refers to Ashlyn Johnson as "Johnson." Her sister, Breanna Johnson, is referred to by her full name.

Bartch and Johnson talked, then Bartch kissed Johnson, said "I went to bend you over," then "kind of did that" and kissed her vagina. RP 777. Johnson was wearing a skirt. RP 778. When Johnson said she was uncomfortable, Bartch stopped and Johnson changed into pants. RP 778-79. Then Bartch sat Johnson on an ottoman and handed her a remote. RP 780.

Bartch then ran into his room, where S.P. was. RP 780. Johnson immediately got up and tried to open the door, but it was locked and the lights were still off. RP 780. Johnson pounded on the door, screaming, "Get out," and "what are you doing?" RP 781. No one responded. RP 782.

Inside the room, Bartch removed S.P.'s clothing from the waist down, then partially penetrated her vagina with his penis.

RP 1449. Bartch testified that S.P. consented to him joining her in bed and that both participated in the sexual activity. RP 1449.

S.P. had no memory of getting from the couch to the bedroom. RP 1230. She was aware of sleeping there, then hearing the door lock click and hearing Bartch's voice really close. RP 1231. She didn't want to be alone with him but could not get up. RP 1232. She was in and out of consciousness, knew Bartch was touching her but couldn't say what he was doing. RP 1233. She did hear banging on the door and yelling but nothing afterward until she was at the hospital. RP 1234-35, 1242. S.P. was very, very intoxicated. RP 1238.

Bridger Bartch was upstairs and heard the commotion; he came down and Johnson testified that he was pounding and yelling too. RP 781. Bridger testified that when he came down he saw Johnson knocking on the door asking to be let in to see S.P. RP 1561-62. The door was locked, but Bridger found a key and opened it. RP 1562-64. Bridger saw S.P. propped against the headboard, her eyes open, though she didn't speak; Bridger went back upstairs. RP 1563-64.

Bartch came out and Johnson ran in and shut and locked the door behind her. RP 784. She pulled the covers off S.P. and discovered S.P.'s clothing below the waist had been removed. RP 784. S.P. was not awake; Johnson shook and slapped her to rouse her. RP 784. When that failed, she poured a glass of water on S.P., then hugged S.P. to her. At that point, S.P. said, "something's wrong." RP 785. Johnson asked, "did he rape you?" and S.P. said, "He raped me," and "I want to die." RP 786.

Johnson called her sister Breanna Johnson for help and Breanna agreed to come get Johnson and S.P. RP 786-87. It was 2:59 a.m. Ex. 13; RP 787-88. Breanna Johnson arrived about 3:30 a.m. RP 948. The sisters helped S.P. up the stairs and out of the house. RP 795.

Bartch exchanged messages with his friend McCool that morning. RP 683; Ex. 5. Bartch's first message was, "Bruh, so fucked right now. [S.P.]'s friend is being so crazy right now." RP 683. When McCool asked what happened, Bartch wrote,

"[S.P.]'s friend was being a cunt, and I was with [S.P.]." RP 684. McCool responded that S.P. was in the hospital. RP 684-85. Later in this exchange, Bartch said, "And when [S.P.] passed out, her friend was freaking because she wouldn't get up and respond. She was literally dropping water all over her in my damn bed." RP 686. When McCool said, "So then she took her to the hospital?", Bartch responded, "I guess, LOL"; "LOL" meaning "laugh out loud." RP 684-86.

The sisters drove S.P. to the Monroe police station, where they were re-directed to the Kirkland police station. RP 797. During the drive, S.P. was at times awake, answered some questions her friends asked and not others, and sometimes did not make sense. RP 797-99. They arrived at Kirkland about 4:45 a.m. RP 1008. Kirkland police officers determined that S.P. was extremely impaired and needed to go to the hospital; they provided a police escort to the hospital. RP 968, 1025, 1132.

At the hospital, S.P. consented to a complete sexual assault examination, including a blood sample. RP 557-59.

Toxicology results showed that her blood alcohol level at 9 a.m. was 0.13, and based on average metabolism, the toxicologist estimated that S.P.'s blood alcohol level at 2 a.m. had been 0.23, a level where it is possible to pass out, and fatigue would add to the depressing effect of the alcohol. RP 1354, 1368-71.

There also was THC in S.P.'s blood and S.P. reported that she had smoked cannabis around midnight. RP 566, 1356.

Bartch's DNA was found in the anal swab and breast swab taken from S.P. during the examination. RP 925-29.

### D. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) provides that this Court may accept review of a decision of the Court of Appeals that conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the

Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4). The decision below warrants review under both criteria.

The decision below conflicts with this Court's decision in <a href="State v. Crossguns">State v. Crossguns</a><sup>2</sup>, reversing the trial court's evidentiary ruling admitting evidence of Bartch's prior sexual advances toward this victim because the prosecutor and the trial court described the purpose of the evidence with the label "lustful disposition," during a trial that preceded the <a href="Crossguns">Crossguns</a> decision, although that evidence would be admissible as evidence of Bartch's intent and motive.

The Court of Appeals also misapplied this Court's jurisprudence interpreting the rape-shield statute, RCW 9A.44.020(2), in holding that the victim's statements about her sexual history were admissible because she made a false statement about that history. Its holdings that those statements and statements about a prior sexual assault of the victim were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 199 Wn.2d 282, 289-94, 505 P.3d 529 (2022).

admissible disregarded this court's precedent recognizing that unfair prejudice and distraction from the case at hand may result from testimony about a victim's sexual history. Because this is a published decision, it creates harmful precedent, defeats the purposes of the rape shield statute and is a matter of substantial public interest.

# 1. THE COURT OF APPEALS IMPROPERLY INTERPRETED <u>STATE V. CROSSGUNS</u> AS MANDATING REVERSAL.

The Court of Appeals majority opinion conflicts with this Court's holding in State v. Crossguns that although the label "lustful disposition" should no longer be applied to evidence offered under Evidence Rule 404(b), evidence formerly admitted with that label is properly admitted for other purposes, such as proof of intent or motive. 199 Wn.2d at 294-95. The Court of Appeals held that Crossguns "mandates" reversal because the trial court, in a case tried before Crossguns, admitted evidence under the label "lustful disposition." App. A at 6. But this Court in Crossguns specifically stated, "We do

misconduct relating to a specific victim under ER 404(b)." <u>Id.</u> at 294. The evidence of Bartch's prior sexual advances to this victim was properly admissible as proof of Bartch's purpose of sexual gratification, which the State was required to prove to establish "sexual contact," an element of the crime of indecent liberties on an incapacitated victim.

Under ER 404(b), evidence of other acts is not admissible to prove a person's character as evidence that they acted in conformity with past behavior, but may be admissible for other purposes, "such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." State v. Ashley, 186 Wn.2d 32, 39, 375 P.3d 673 (2016).

At issue here is an incident that occurred the summer before this assault, when S.P. attended another social gathering at Bartch's home. RP 1071, 1483. Bartch offered to walk to S.P.'s car with her to retrieve something and S.P. testified that

when she leaned over to get the item, Bartch hit her twice on the butt. RP 1072, 1464. As they walked back to the house, Bartch said he'd like to give S.P. oral sex on the porch, and S.P. said no. RP 1073-74. A little later that night, Bartch asked if S.P. wanted to have sex with him and again, S.P. said no. RP 1074-75. Bartch testified that when they got to the car, he tried to kiss S.P. but S.P. stopped him and said she was dating his friend. RP 1464. Bartch testified that he "agreed" but after they walked back into the house, he asked S.P. if she wanted to go to bed with him. RP 1464. S.P said no and she slept on a mattress in the basement. RP 1464-65.

The trial court properly found that the purpose of this evidence was to establish sexual interest or sexual desire for the specific victim of this assault. RP 167. The issue of sexual interest in this victim was central to the charge at issue here, indecent liberties based on the victim being mentally incapacitated or physically helpless. An element of this crime is that the defendant knowingly caused the victim to have

sexual contact with the defendant. RCW 9A.44.100(1)(b). "Sexual contact" is defined as "touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desire of either party or a third party." RCW 9A.44.010(13) (emphasis added). The jury instructions included that definition of "sexual contact." CP 426-27. Prior acts can be relevant to prove that the charged act was sexually motivated. State v. Vars, 157 Wn. App. 482, 495-96, 237 P.3d 378 (2010).

In finding that the sexual desire or sexual interest in S.P. was relevant to the crime at issue, the court was referring to motive and intent, a proper purpose for admitting prior acts under ER 404(b). Prior similar acts involving the same victim are relevant to prove motive and intent. <u>United States v. Berckmann</u>, 971 F.3d 999, 1002-03 (9th Cir. 2020); <u>State v. Baker</u>, 162 Wn. App. 468, 473-74, 259 P.3d 270 (2011). For purposes of ER 404(b), desire is motive: "Motive, for purposes of the admissibility of evidence under ER 404(b), 'goes beyond

gain and can demonstrate an impulse, desire, or any other moving power which causes an individual to act." <u>Baker</u>, 162 Wn. App. at 473-74.

Bartch has argued that the evidence was not probative because he would concede that he was sexually interested in S.P.; the Court of Appeals found the evidence "at most minimally probative" that the charged conduct was for the purpose of gratifying sexual desire and "in the best case only cumulatively so." App. A at 9. The court faulted the State and the trial court for relying on the law (and label) that existed at the time to conclude that the evidence was not relevant to motive or intent. Id.

However, evidence is not inadmissible because an appellate court in hindsight believes it was unnecessary. The State is not relieved of its burden of proof even if the defense is willing to concede a matter. The Supreme Court has rejected the argument that the probative value of a prior act admissible under ER 404(b) is eliminated if the defense does not dispute

the element to which it relates. State v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 183, 189 P.3d 126 (2008). A plea of not guilty "puts the burden on the State 'to prove every essential element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. (citing State v. Cantu, 156 Wn.2d 819, 825, 132 P.3d 725 (2006)). Moreover, conceding sexual interest is not the same as conceding that Bartch was interested in having casual sexual contact with S.P. or that he acted for the purpose of sexual gratification during this incident. The State also had no guarantee that Bartch would testify at trial and admit any sexual interest.

Further, the trial court concluded that the probative value of the evidence was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. RP 167. It noted that the danger of unfair prejudice was limited where the defense stated its intention to acknowledge Bartch's sexual interest in S.P. and the evidence was not particularly inflammatory. RP 167. The only part of the prior incident that struck the court as a potential wrongful act was the "presumably uninvited slapping on the butt," noting

there's nothing necessarily wrongful about asking someone to engage in sex. RP 164. This ruling was well within the trial court's broad discretion.

Finally, any error in admitting evidence of the prior incident was harmless. "Erroneous admission of evidence in violation of ER 404(b) is harmless unless there is a reasonable probability that the verdict would have been materially different but for the error." Ashley, 186 Wn.2d at 47. Here, there is no reasonable probability that the admission of the prior incident affected the verdict.

Bartch admitted at trial that he was sexually interested in S.P. RP 1433-34, 1500. He testified that they never had a dating relationship. RP 1500. The issue at trial was whether S.P. was incapacitated to the extent that she was unable to consent or was unconscious when Bartch locked them in his bedroom and sexually assaulted her. S.P., the Johnsons, and police all described her extremely compromised mental and physical condition caused by excessive alcohol (and possible

cannabis) consumption. RP 767-68, 784-85, 1230-38. Bartch testified that S.P. was just fine, had agreed to sleep with him, participated in the sex acts, and he had no idea why or even if her friend threw water on her to try to wake her up afterward. RP 1445-50, 1489-90. There is no reasonable probability that the brief testimony about a prior event that did not involve a sexual assault caused the verdict to be materially different.

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS IMPROPERLY DISMISSED THE PROTECTION OF THE RAPE SHIELD STATUTE AND IGNORED THE UNFAIR PREJUDICE OF EVIDENCE OF A VICTIM'S SEXUAL HISTORY AND HISTORY OF SEXUAL ASSAULT.

The Court of Appeals majority opinion conflicts with

Supreme Court precedent construing the rape shield statute in

holding that a statement by the victim regarding her sexual

history and a statement by a witness reporting the victim's

reference to a prior sexual assault should have been admitted at

trial. As the dissenting opinion notes, these rulings risk

overriding the protection of the rape shield statute and disregard

the trial court's reasonable conclusion that the evidence had minimal probative value and there was a significant risk that the evidence would cause unfair prejudice. If the evidence was improperly excluded, it was harmless error, as argued below.

#### a. The Protection of the Rape Shield Statute.

The rape shield statute provides that evidence of a victim's past sexual behavior "is inadmissible on the issue of credibility" and inadmissible as to consent except as specifically provided in the statute. RCW 9A.44.020(2). Evidence of past sexual behavior is admissible as to consent "only if: (1) it is relevant; (2) its probative value substantially outweighs the probability that its admission will create a substantial danger of undue prejudice; and (3) its exclusion will result in denial of substantial justice to the defendant." State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 7, 659 P.2d 514 (1983); RCW 9A.44.020(3)(d). The admissibility of evidence under the rape

shield statute is within the sound discretion of the trial court.

State v. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d 350, 362-63, 229 P.3d 669 (2010).

This Court has recognized three State interests served by the rape shield statute – the interest in excluding "evidence that may distract and inflame jurors if it is of arguable probative worth"; aiding "in achieving just trials and preventing acquittals based on prejudice against the victims' past sex lives"; and "encourag[ing] rape victims to step forward" and report these crimes, and participate in prosecution of them. <u>Hudlow</u>, 99 Wn.2d at 16; <u>See State v. Lee</u>, 188 Wn.2d 473, 493-96, 396 P.3d 316 (1999).

b. The Court of Appeals Erred in Concluding That a False Statement About Sexual History That is Irrelevant Renders Sexual History Relevant and Admissible.

The Court of Appeals majority erred in holding that a false statement S.P. made about her sexual history was admissible as probative of her credibility. App. A at 16. The

Court explained that the statement was probative of credibility "independently of its subject matter." Id.

The Court of Appeals misapplied this Court's decision in State v. Lee, supra. In Lee, the victim had made a prior false allegation of rape, which she retracted the next day. 188 Wn.2d at 479. The trial court permitted evidence that she had made a prior false accusation about another person to police but prohibited specifying that it was a rape accusation. Id. at 480. This Court held that the prior false rape accusation "had minimal probative value because it did not directly relate to an issue in the case" and did not "demonstrate a specific bias or motive to lie." Id. at 488. That is, although the prior accusation was false, it was improperly offered to invite the jury to infer that because she had made a false rape accusation in the past, her accusation in the current case also was false. Id. at 489. This Court noted that the prejudice resulting from evidence of a prior false rape accusation is similar to the prejudice from evidence of prior sexual acts, that it may distract and inflame

jurors, and may result in acquittals based on prejudice against victims' sex lives. 188 Wn.2d at 494-95. While the fact of a false accusation was relevant, the nature of it as a rape allegation was unduly prejudicial.

The evidence at issue here was that when S.P. was interviewed by police at the hospital after this assault, she was asked what she did when she went into Bartch's room, she told them she was "pretty sure [she] went to sleep because ... I mean, I have a boyfriend, so I would never try to like, be with someone else." App. A at 12; PTEx. 12 at 2, 9. S.P. said she did not remember details of what happened in the room because, "I was too out of it. I was too messed up for anybody to be talking to me." PTEx. 12 at 9. During a later interview, S.P. stated that she had "cheated" on a boyfriend. PTEx. 10 at 23.

The Court's opinion concluded that S.P.'s false statement about her sexual history is distinguishable from other evidence of sexual history because it was false, making it impeachment

by contradiction. App. A at 15. This analysis simply allows an attack on S.P.'s general credibility by use of her sexual history.

See App. A, dissent at 7. The victim's making a false statement about her sexual history does not make that sexual history relevant. The evidence was prohibited by the rape shield statute.

Consent was not at issue in this case, only S.P.'s capacity was at issue, so whether S.P. was likely to have consented was a collateral matter and the evidence also was inadmissible for that reason. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d at 362.

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