FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/11/2024 10:40 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 102588-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

BROGAN BARTCH,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

COOPER OFFENBECHER, WSBA #40690 Allen, Hansen, Maybrown & Offenbecher, P.S. 600 University Street Suite 3020 Seattle, WA 98101

Phone: (206) 447-9681 Fax: (206) 447-0839

Email: cooper@ahmlawyers.com ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

V. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with a decision of this Court, nor does it raise an issue of substantial public interest meriting this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

A. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Crossguns*.

The unanimous Court of Appeals properly applied this Court's decision in *State v. Crossguns*, 199 Wn.2d 282, 505 P.3d 529 (2022), concluding that the trial court erred in admitting evidence of Mr. Bartch's prior alleged sexual misconduct under the "lustful disposition" doctrine.

In *Crossguns*, this Court abrogated the "lustful disposition" doctrine, declaring it "no longer...a distinct purpose for admitting evidence under ER 404(b)." 199 Wn.2d at 290. This Court explained that the doctrine "perpetuates...myths that sexual assault...results from an uncontrollable sexual urge or [an unmet] sexual need," painting the offender as driven by "an overpowering sexual desire for or attraction to their victim." *Id.* at 292. The term suggests the defendant is "inherently inclined to be sexually

attracted to their victim, that they have a "lustful inclination" or "sexual desire for the particular [victim]." Id. at 291-92 (quotation omitted) (emphasis in Crossguns). Where the doctrine effectively allows propensity evidence, it is "clearly harmful" because ER 404(b) categorically bars character evidence to show "a person's character and…that the person acted in conformity with that character." Id. at 292-93 (quoting State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420, 269 P.3d 207 (2012)).

In *Crossguns*, because the trial court explicitly admitted the sexual misconduct evidence for other, identified permissible purposes, separate from lustful disposition, *id.* at 287, this Court affirmed. *Id.* at 296; *id.* at 295 (further justifying admission due to the unique features of child sexual abuse cases).

In Mr. Bartch's case, the trial court admitted evidence of his prior alleged sexual misconduct from 2017, including that Mr. Bartch slapped S.P.'s bottom, begged her to let him perform oral sex on her, and asked her to sleep with him, solely to prove his "lustful disposition." VRP_167-68; CP_417. Employing a

classic lustful disposition theme, the prosecutor used the prior act to argue that Mr. Bartch's "sexual urges" caused him to commit the charged crime. VRP 493.

The unanimous Court of Appeals correctly concluded that "[t]he other, permissible purposes relied on in *Crossguns* are absent here." A_7. Rather, "[t]he trial court's ER 404(b) analysis instead shows there was no purpose other than lustful disposition." A_7-8.

For the first time on appeal, the State attempted to recharacterize the trial court's ruling by arguing the evidence was admissible to prove that the charged act was "sexually motivated" or evidence of "motive." A_8. The Court of Appeals rejected this attempt, reiterating: "Asserting a need to prove motive is not a magic [password] whose mere incantation will open wide the courtroom doors to whatever evidence may be offered in [its name]." A_8-9 (quoting *State v. Wade*, 98 Wn. App. 328, 334, 989 P.2d 576 (1999) (internal quotation marks

omitted) (alterations in original) (quoting *State v. Saltarelli*, 98 Wn.2d 358, 364, 655 P.2d 697 (1982))).

Here, the State's suggestion that the prior acts were necessary to prove that what happened in Mr. Bartch's bedroom was "sexually motivated"—which was plainly never at issue—is merely a pretext for getting otherwise inadmissible evidence before the jury.⁴

⁴ The cases cited by the State at 13-15 for the proposition that prior acts are relevant to prove motive and intent involved disputes over the defendant's intent, making the prior incidents relevant to prove a contested element and/or rebut an asserted defense or specific defense claim. See State v. Vars, 157 Wn. App. 482, 495-96, 237 P.3d 378 (2010) (defendant charged with indecent exposure for walking nude through neighborhood; prior similar convictions admissible to prove disprove defendant's claim that he was merely looking for a place to defecate, and to prove he knew his conduct was likely to cause alarm); *United* States v. Berckmann, 971 F.3d 999, 1002-03 (9th Cir. 2020) (prior assaults properly admitted to disprove "that Berckmann was not joking around"); State v. Baker, 162 Wn. App. 468, 474, 259 P.3d 270 (2011) (prior strangulations admissible where defendant claimed he was merely helping his intoxicated girlfriend get ready for bed). Cf. State v. Magers, 164 Wn 2d 174, 182-83, 189 P.3d 126 (2008) (where the crime victim's fear was "an issue," prior acts admissible to prove "reasonable fear" element of second-degree assault).

The Court of Appeals noted that "Bartch's prior advances were dissimilar to the charged conduct and remote in time" and "at most only minimally probative":

Especially considering the State offered the evidence only based on a purpose the Supreme Court has disavowed and that only ever amounted to impermissible propensity, the State's alternative theory of motive advanced on appeal fails to establish an other, permissible purpose under ER 404(b).

A 9.

The State's attempted recharacterization of the trial court's ruling—that the trial court was actually "referring to motive and intent," Petition at 13—is directly contradicted by the record, which clearly demonstrated that lustful disposition was the sole reason for offering and admitting this evidence. *See, e.g.,* CP_328 ("The Defendant's prior bad acts are relevant to show his lustful disposition for S.P"). The trial court recognized that the doctrine was "troublesome," but concluded it had no discretion based on the law at the time. VRP_166-67 (admitting evidence to prove "lustful disposition").

The unanimous Court of Appeals decision is a thorough, well-supported application of *Crossguns*.⁵

Finally, the State argues that "any error" was harmless. Petition at 16. This is not a basis to grant review under RAP 13.4(b). Moreover, the State's characterization of the prior act evidence as "brief testimony," *id.* at 17, is contradicted by the record. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that the State prominently featured this evidence throughout trial, asking the jury "to particularly rely on the other acts evidence," including that it "highlighted" the prior acts "by starting its opening statement with a description of them as the beginning of a

See also State v. Wilson, No. 81404-4-I, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS 345, at *12 (Wash. Ct. App. Div. I, Feb. 21, 2023) (unpublished), as amended on motion for reconsideration (rejecting claim that prior sexual misconduct was admissible to prove motive or intent: "this purported purpose is nothing more than a recasting of the prohibited 'lustful disposition' rationale for admission. It is not the type of motive approved of in the case law"); State v. Griffin, No. 84354-1-I, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS 2250 at *31 (Wash. Ct. App. Div. I, December 4, 2023) (unpublished) (""[l]ustful disposition' is no longer an allowable basis"; "the State's assertions of a common scheme or plan was not justified by this record").

continuous longing by Bartch ("begged") to have sex with S.P.," a theme that continued in closing. A 10.

Because of the contested evidence, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded there was a reasonable probability the outcome was affected. *Id.* ("There was competing testimony as to how much alcohol S.P. consumed, when she stopped drinking, and S.P.'s mental state when she was in the bedroom with Bartch").

B. The Court of Appeals decisions on two factspecific evidentiary rulings apply this Court's settled precedent and do not involve an issue of substantial public interest meriting review.

The Court of Appeals majority reached two fact-specific evidentiary issues that are likely to arise on retrial regarding: (1) a false statement S.P. made to the police, which related to S.P.'s motive to claim that she was too incapacitated to consent to sexual contact; and (2) S.P.'s level of consciousness in the car after leaving Mr. Bartch's.

Neither conflict with a decision of this Court or raise an issue of substantial public interest meriting review.

1. S.P.'s false statement to the police.

When asked by the police what she did when she went into Mr. Bartch's bedroom, S.P. responded she was "pretty sure [she] went to sleep because...I have a boyfriend, so I would never try to, like, be with someone else." PTE_12 at 9; CP_759 (similar statements to the nurse). In contrast, during a later interview with the prosecutor, S.P. admitted that she *did* "cheat" on her boyfriend: "I did, yes. I'm not going to lie." PTE_10 at 23. Within the week or two before she went to Mr. Bartch's house, she was "just dating around." *Id.* at 19-20.

In concluding that the trial court erred in applying the rape shield statute, the Court of Appeals explained that "Bartch was not seeking to prove 'past sexual behavior' within the meaning of the rape shield statute." A_19 (quoting RCW 9A.44.020(2)). The Court of Appeals applied this Court's decision in *State v. Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 1, 659 P.2d 514 (1983): "[T]he prohibition of sexual

conduct evidence is directed at the use of such evidence for impeaching the victim's *general credibility* for truth and veracity." A 14 (quoting *Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d at 8) (*Hudlow*'s emphasis).

Accordingly, the rape shield statute did not apply because "Bartch did not offer evidence of S.P.'s sexual history for the purpose of impeaching her general credibility." A_15. Rather, it was offered "to show she gave a false explanation to the police when asked about consent to sexual contact with Bartch." A 16.

The State argues that the Court of Appeals "misapplied" *State v. Lee*, 188 Wn.2d 473, 396 P.3d 316 (2017). Petition at 20. The Petition summarizes *Lee* in a single paragraph, but fails to explain how the decision actually conflicts with *Lee*.

Lee articulated that a witness's false statement is "highly probative" if it relates to the witness's bias or motivation to lie—precisely the purpose for which Mr. Bartch offered S.P.'s false statement. The Lee Court contrasted that situation with one where the "prior false rape accusation had minimal probative value because it did not directly relate to an issue in the case. Rather

than demonstrate a specific bias or motive to lie, which would be highly probative, the evidence invited the jury to infer that
J.W. is lying because she had lied in the past." *Id.* at 488 (emphasis supplied). *See also id.* at 489 (Lee had not "offer[ed] the prior false accusation evidence to demonstrate that J.W. was biased or that she had a motive to lodge a false accusation"). This Court called it a "close case." *Id.* at 496.

Mr. Bartch's case was not "close." He offered S.P.'s false statement to demonstrate that S.P. had a motive to fabricate her incapacity because she was ashamed that she had cheated on her boyfriend and did not want him to know that she had consented to sex with Mr. Bartch:

...she had a motive to fabricate the claims here. [S.P.] asserts that she had a boyfriend at the time of this incident. And it is the defense theory that these claims ultimately arose because she had a boyfriend and she was confronted by her friend Ashlyn Johnson who barged into the room, convinced that something untoward was happening inside the room.

VRP_95. As defense counsel argued, "the premise" for S.P.'s professed incapacity was her claimed fidelity to her boyfriend,

which was false, "by her own admission." VRP_105. And S.P.'s "motive to fabricate" her incapacity was triggered "when she is confronted by her friend, who then drives her to the police station where her boyfriend shows up." VRP 125.

The Court of Appeals correctly applied *Lee*, explaining that "a false statement is more likely to be considered 'highly probative' if it demonstrates 'a specific bias or motive to lie,'" A_15 (quoting *Lee*, 188 Wn.2d at 488), the precise purpose for which Mr. Bartch offered the evidence.

Further, both the *Bartch* court, A_15, n.5, and this Court in *Lee*, 188 Wn.2d at 489, cite *Olden v. Kentucky*, 488 U.S. 227, 109 S. Ct. 480, 102 L. Ed. 2d 513 (1988), where the trial court excluded a rape victim's extramarital relationship, which was offered to demonstrate the victim's bias or motivation to falsely accuse the defendant. *Id.* at 229-30. The United States Supreme Court found a confrontation right violation, noting the evidence was not precluded by the rape shield law:

...petitioner has consistently asserted that he and Matthews engaged in consensual sexual acts and that Matthews -- out of fear of jeopardizing her relationship with Russell -- lied when she told Russell she had been raped and has continued to lie since. It is plain to us that "[a] reasonable jury might have received a significantly different impression of [the witness'] credibility had [defense counsel] been permitted to pursue his proposed line of cross-examination."

Id. at 232 (quoting Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 680, 106 S. Ct. 1431, 89 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1986)).

The *Bartch* court explained: "[t]he trial court's ruling in this case went much farther than the 'close case' presented in *Lee*, because the trial court barred Bartch from introducing evidence of S.P.'s false statement all together." A_17. S.P.'s false statement was different from false accusations of entirely separate events:

Bartch sought to show a false statement by the complaining witness concerning the charged incident, made to the police in a formal statement, the morning after it occurred, and whose falsity is indicated by the witness's later statement in pretrial interviews in the same case. The allegedly false statement at issue here is also more central to the charged conduct than the unrelated false accusation of rape at issue in *Lee* that the court described as a

"close case," and in which the trial court allowed inquiry into the false accusation.

A 19-20 (quoting *Lee*, 188 Wn.2d at 496).

The evidence was not offered to impeach S.P.'s general credibility—the rape shield statute's prohibition. Rather, it was offered to prove S.P.'s specific bias and motive to fabricate what happened with Mr. Bartch and/or exaggerate her level of intoxication "out of fear" that the truth might "jeopardiz[e] her relationship with" her boyfriend. *See Olden*, 488 U.S. at 232. This is a legally correct fact-specific evidentiary ruling applying established precedent that does not involve a "substantial public interest" justifying review.

2. S.P.'s consciousness in the car.

S.P.'s consciousness and cognition in the car after leaving Mr. Bartch's was critical because it was: (1) highly probative of her mental capacity when she was alone with Mr. Bartch a few minutes earlier; (2) crucial to assessing Mr. Bartch's affirmative defense that he subjectively believed S.P. could consent; and (3)

essential to contradicting State witnesses who described S.P. as "unconscious" in the car.

Ashlyn told the police, "We had a conversation," CP_793; PTE_3 at 48-49. The defense offered the detailed car conversation between S.P., Breanna, and Ashlyn, in which S.P. explained her prior sexual assault by a stepcousin; the impact on her family's cohesion; her own mental health and related treatment; and its impact on her behavior. CP 792-93; PTE 3 at 46-47.

The trial court excluded it as "hearsay," with any relevance "outweighed by the prejudicial effect," VRP_133; 136, permitting only *general* inquiry into "S.P.'s demeanor, capacity to express thoughts, mental abilities, and cogency." VRP_133; CP_415-16.

The State presented significant testimony from Ashlyn and Breanna that S.P. was "passed out," unresponsive, "unconscious," and had "no cognition" in the car. VRP_797; 957-958. The prosecution took advantage of this opportunity to present a false and misleading premise, arguing in closing, for example, "[S.P.]

had very poor, if any, mental alertness and few signs of cognitive functioning." VRP_1648

Recognizing that "Washington decisions have been skeptical of limitations on cross-examination that appear to give a key government witness latitude to testify without contradiction through other available evidence," A_27, the Court of Appeals reversed on this issue as well, correctly applying this Court's precedent regarding the impeachment of key witnesses:

[t]hat the evidence would impeach a key prosecution witness significantly bolsters its probative value. "[T]he more essential the witness is to the prosecution's case, the more latitude the defense should be given to explore fundamental elements such as motive, bias, [or] credibility."

A_27 (quoting *State v. Orn*, 197 Wn.2d 343, 354, 482 P.3d 913 (2012) (quoting *State v. Darden*, 145 Wn.2d 612, 619, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002))).

In *Darden*, this Court held it was error to prohibit the defense from eliciting the location from which a police officer observed the defendant, and—similar to *Bartch*—only allowed

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